FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/18/2019 3:42 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/25/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97703-8

No. 77525-1-I (King County No. 17-2-12030-8 SEA)

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CARLOS PACHECO Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

# OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Defendant-Respondent.

# PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen M. Hansen LAW OFFICE OF STEPHEN M. HANSEN, P.S 1821 Dock Street, Suite 103 Tacoma, WA 98402

Tel: (253) 302-5955 Fax: (253) 301-1147

steve@stephenmhansenlaw.com

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 15, 2016, an at-fault uninsured motorist caused physical damage to Insured's 2014 Audi Allroad Quattro Wagon. CP82, CP101.

Insured carried UIM coverage through Respondent insurer OMI. CP39.

The policy's coverage clause, consistent with RCW48.22.030(2)'s coverage language, states (bolding in original) that "We will pay damages for property damage which a covered person is legally entitled to recovery" from the uninsured driver. The policy's definitions section further states: "property damage' means physical injury to or destruction of" the insured vehicle."<sup>2</sup>

The Audi's property damage caused Insured to incur \$14,074.06 in repair costs, which were covered by OMI as "damages for property damage" the insured "is legally entitled to recover" under the policy.

CP105, 111. The property damage to the Audi also caused \$7,950.00 in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This language is standard form policy language found in numerous UIM policies. See e.g. *Kalles v. State Farm*, 7 Wn.App. 3d 330, 331, 433 P.3d 523 (Div. 2 2019) (construing functionally identical "compensatory damages for property damage" the insured is "legally entitled to recover" coverage language as covering loss of use, irrespective of definition of "property damages" as "physical damages").

diminished value damages. R90. OMI denied coverage for these damages based on an *express exclusion* in the OMI auto policy. CP112.

The property damage to Insured's Audi further resulted in \$2,084.40 in damages for loss of use. CP119. While OMI paid \$1,050.00 for rental reimbursement under a no-fault coverage for which Insured had paid an additional \$24 premium on top of the premium paid to OMI for the statutorily mandated UIM coverage, (CP111), the policy limits on the no-fault rental reimbursement coverage left Insured with \$318.71 in out-of-pocket rental expenses and an additional \$715.69 in uncompensated damages, resulting from the property damage to his vehicle, as a result of his inability to use his Audi. CP115, CP119. While there is no dispute that these damages would have been recoverable from the at fault driver, had he/she been insured (see WPI 30.16) OMI denied Insured's request for damages for loss of use due to an express exclusion OMI had written into the policy. CP112.

Insured sued and the King County District Court voided the diminished value exclusion, but not the loss of use exclusion. CP11. On Appeal, the King County Superior Court, while stating that the UIM statute was "not a model of clarity or draftsmanship" upheld both exclusions without providing a reasoned explanation. CP504-505. The

Superior Court certified its Order as being one where there was "substantial ground for difference of opinion" under CR 54(b). CP529.

Division I granted review, reversed the Superior Court and reinstated the District Court's decision, stating that "We hold that the exclusion for diminished value violates the language of the statute [RCW 48.22.030], but that the exclusion for loss of use does not violate either the language of the statute or public policy." *Pacheco* at ¶ 1. The *Pacheco* Court reasoned: "The plain reading of the statutory language [in RCW 48.22.030(3)] requires that physical damage to the insured motor vehicle must be covered. Other property damages, including consequential damages, are not require to be covered by the UIM policy." *Id.* at ¶17.

The Court reached this conclusion by reasoning that RCW 48.22.030(2)'s language stating that: no automobile policy "shall be issued...unless coverage is provided therein...for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages...because of...property damage" simply stated who must be insured, it did not state what must be covered, (i.e it was not a "coverage clause"), Instead, the Court believed that language in RCW 48.22.030(3) defined the limits on the amount of coverage and what would trigger coverage, stating:

"Property damage coverage required under subsection (2) of this section shall mean physical damage to the insured motor vehicle unless the policy specifically provides coverage for the contents thereof or other forms of property damage" constituted the scope of covered damages clause. *Pacheco* at ¶15-16.

In so holding the *Pacheco* Court found the scope of coverage to be set by RCW 48.22.030(3) and found the statutory term "damages" to mean the same thing as "property damage". *Id.* at ¶16-17.

As discussed herein, the *Pacheco* decision cites to no authority to support its reasoning, is inconsistent with the actual language and structure of RCW 48.22.030(2), (3) and how insurers have interpreted the statutory UIM coverage obligation, is in conflict with the reasoning of multiple decision of the Courts of this state which find the statutory phrase "damages because of property damage" to define the *scope of coverage provided; i.e. what "damages" are recoverable.* See RAP 13.4(1), (2).

The decision, if not reviewed, by allowing insurers to exclude common everyday "consequential damages" resulting from (or "because of") property damage (such as loss of use and towing charges) from UIM coverage will likely impact hundreds of thousands of insureds in this State who, when they suffer property damages caused by uninsured motorists will lose "the protection of persons" "who are legally entitled to recovery

damages...because of...property damage" which RCW 48.22.030(2) expressly sought to provide. See RAP 13.4(4).

#### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision and Reasoning Conflicts with UIM Decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Statutory language as interpreted in prior cases; with appellate opinions distinguishing "damages" (plural) from "property damage" (singular); and with the Legislature's intent in mandating that UIM coverage, when purchased, indemnify policyholders for financial harm caused by physical/property damage to their covered automobiles caused by uninsured drivers. As such, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(1), (2).

Any analysis of the UIM statute must start with the fact that the Legislature drafted the statute "to protect innocent victims of motorists of underinsured motor vehicles." RCW 48.22.030(12). Multiple decisions, starting with *Britton v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 531 707 P.2d 125 (1985) have held that "we construe the purpose of the underinsured motorist aspects of the new underinsured motorist statute as allowing an injured party to recover those damages which the injured party would have received had the responsible party been insured" *Id.*, see e.g. *Hamilton v.* 

Farmers Ins. Co., 107 Wn.2d 721, 727, 733 P.2d 213 (1987) (quoting Britton and stating that "[t]he intent of the statute is to provide full compensation to the insured under an underinsured motorist policy.");

Blackburn v. Safeco Ins. Co., 115 Wn.2d 82, 87-88, 794 P.2d 1259 (1990) (quoting Britton, and stating "UIM insurance provides a source of indemnification when the tortfeaser does not provide adequate protection."). Notably, each of these cases looks to the phrase "legally entitled to recovery damages...because of...bodily injury, death, or property damages" in RCW 48.22.030(2) for what damages are covered, not to, as did the Pacheco Court, the definitional language regarding covered risks in RCW 48.22.030(3).

Daly v. Allstate Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 777, 782-3, 958 P.2d 990 (1998) is directly contrary to the interpretation of the relevant language of the UIM statute in *Pacheco*. In *Daly* this Court stated that "[t]he Washington Legislature mandates UIM coverage for insured persons who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners of underinsured motor vehicles for 'damages ... because of bodily injury, death, or property damage....' RCW 48.22.030(2)." As such *Daly* found, and quoted, the damages which were coverage (i.e. the scope of coverage) in the statutory wording of 48.22.030(2) – not subsection (3) as did Pacheco at ¶15-16.

The *Daly* Court focused, as Insured argued below and should have occurred in this case, on the insurance term of art as to the scope of coverage "damages *because of* bodily injury" ("property damage" in this case), and whether the damages sought "arise as a result of" the event that triggers coverage. 958 P.2d at 992. As *Daly* held, citing to multiple prior decisions, "the Legislature allows UIM coverage to be limited to damages suffered *as a result of* 'bodily injury'" *Id.*, 958 P.3d at 998, & id., at 998 (noting that an exclusion for damages "unrelated to" physical injury was permitted as it "directly mirrors the coverage mandated pursuant to Washington's UIM statute"). The *Pacheco* decision at ¶ 15-16 directly conflicts with, and does not address, this interpretation of the UIM statute, instead looking at the term "property damage" *in isolation*, rather than requiring coverage for those 'damages' (with an "s") which are "as a result of" and "because of" the covered loss, here "property damage"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By reading these terms out of the policy as simply being an unnecessary expression of *who* is covered (something that is already made clear in the phrase "for the protection of persons insured thereunder") and as such in essence writing them out of the policy, the *Pacheco* Opinion is also in conflict with the rules of statutory interpretation as expressed in multiple cases. E.g. *Jametsky v. Olsen*, 179 Wn.2d 756, 761-62, 317 P.3d 1003 (2014) ("If possible, we must give effect to [the] plain meaning [of a statute] as an expression of legislative intent. This plain meaning is derived from the context of the entire act"); *Homestreet, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 444, 452, 210 P.3d 297 (2009)("[E]ach word of a statute is to be accorded meaning."); *Kasper v. City of Edmonds*, 69 Wn.2d 799, 804, 420 P.2d 346 (1966) (Statutes are to be construed so "no clause, sentence or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant.").

Prior to the *Pacheco* opinion upon which review is sought, Courts have also repeatedly, and favorably to the Insured, addressed the distinction between "damages" and "property damage" in the context of insurance coverage, a line of authority argued below that the Court below did not address, and conflicts with its reasoning. *Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 428-29, 38 P.3d 322 (2002) construed functionally and materially identical "legally obligated to pay as damages because of . . . property damage" language, finding that (consistent with *Daly*) it triggered broader coverage than simply "physical damage":

The Court of Appeals seemingly confused the concept of "property damage" with that of "damages" . . . In *Boeing* [Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 113 Wn.2d 869, 877, 784 P.2d 507 (1990)] for example, we explained the term "damages" in an insuring agreement refers to the cost of compensating a claimant for damage done to the property. Id. (citing Webster's Third New International Dictionary 517 (1971)). This is vastly different from "property damage," which is defined by the policy as "physical injury to or destruction of tangible property." CP at 296. It follows that "damage" must be distinguished from "damages." See Am. Stevedores v. Porello, 330 U.S. 446, 450 n.6, 67 S. Ct. 847, 91 L. Ed. 1011 (1947). "Damage" means the actual loss, injury, or deterioration of the property itself. Id. "Damages," on the other hand, means compensating loss or damage. Id.

The phrase that the Court below found to be a limit on coverage to "property damage", is instead what *triggers* coverage for "damages"

which are as "a result of" or in the words of the UIM statute "because of" that "property damage".<sup>4</sup> Other cases cited below also hold "property damage" to be a trigger for coverage of "damages," not a limitation on the scope of recoverable compensatory damages. See e.g. American National Fire Ins. Co., v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 413, 428-9, 951 P.2d 250 (1998); Griffin v. Allstate Ins. Co., 108 Wn. App. 133, 138, 29 P. 3d 777, 780 (2001) ("triggering event" for policy reading "legally obligated to pay because of . . . property damages" is filing of lawsuit by the other driver); Transcontinental Ins. Co. v. Wa. Public Utilities Districts' Utility Sys., 111 Wn.2d 452, 469-470, 760 P. 2d 337 (1988) (becoming "legally obligated to pay" is triggering language for coverage for damages). Cases looking at the same question from the opposite perspective have reached the same conclusion. E.g., Hayden v Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 65-66, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000) ( holding that a policy exclusion for loss of use of property that has not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is also the reasoning of Kalles,, 7 Wn.App. 3d 330 (Div 2 2019) which was cited to the Pacheco panel below, and holds in direct conflict with the decision below that it was reasonable that the coverage clause: "'compensatory damages for property damage'...should be read to 'provide/include the same elements of damages that would be recoverable from the at-fault tortfeasor under Washington law' and that 'for property damage' acts as triggering language rather than limiting language." *Id.* at ¶12 (internal citations omitted). Kalles is in direct conflict with the reasoning of Pacheco as to what constitutes the coverage language under the policy.

been physically injured was permissible as it was not "damages because of property damage.")<sup>5</sup>

These holdings are all *directly contrary* to the reasoning and holding of the Appellate Court below which allowed the exclusion of damages "because of" or "as a result of" property damage, requiring instead that those damages be (as it understood it) the actual coverage trigging "property damage"

As shown above, all prior Washington decisions, and insurers such as OMI and State Farm in *Kalles* in drafting their UIM coverage clause<sup>6</sup> have looked to the statutory phrase and repeatedly construed the insurance term of art "damages because of bodily injury/property damage" found in RCW 48.22.030(2) to define what is covered. There are strong textural reasons in the UIM statute why this is correct, which the *Pacheco* Opinion did not address. RCW 48.22.030(2) states that policies shall not be issued "unless coverage is provided... *for the protection of* persons insured

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Insured notes that he is not suggesting that RCW 48.20.030(2) requires UIM loss of use coverage without there first being "physical damage" to the car; here that trigger has been satisfied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Insurers have implicitly agreed – in direct contrast with the *Pacheco* decision – in drafting their policies that the operative language under the UIM statute is a form of the phraseology "damages because of property damage" not simply "property damage." As such policies do not say that "we will cover only the property damage to the insured vehicle" or similar language.

thereunder who are legally entitled to recover *damages because of*...property damage" (emphasis added). That this statutory language
contains a description not just of *whom* is to be covered, but of what *losses*are to be covered ("damages because of property damage/bodily injury"
which the insured is "legally entitled to recover") is made clear by the use
not once but twice in RCW 48.22.030(3) of the phrase "coverage required
by subsection (2)." This makes clear that the scope of coverage (i.e. what
"damages" are to be protected against and recoverable) is found in
subsection (2) not in subsection (3) as *Pacheco* read the UIM statute.

While the *Pacheco* decision reasoned that the scope of coverage language is in subsection (3), that section in fact tells the reader to look to "subsection (2)" and the language therein to determine what coverage is required. Further, by its own terms, the phrase "property damage coverage required under subsection (2) *shall mean* physical damage to the insured motor vehicle, unless the policy specifically provides coverage for the contents thereof or other forms of property damage" (emphasis added) is not the statutory *coverage* clause (i.e. an explanation of what damages are covered), rather it is *a further definition* of the language "property damage" in subsection (2) as to what trigger's coverage for "damages because of" that event.

The policy reasons for allowing an insurer to limit what property is being insured (i.e. what "property damage" would trigger coverage) is made clear by the words of the statute itself. Unlike the term "because of bodily injury" which is limited to those covered by the policy and as such needs no further definition, <sup>7</sup> there can be many types of triggering "property damage" requiring some further explanation as to what risks are to be covered. The Legislature drafted RCW 48.22.030(3) with the intent to allow a narrower scope of UIM property damage coverage than the scope of liability coverage required to comply with Washington's Financial Responsibility Act. As such, the statute does not require that coverage be triggered by every type of property damage a collision with an uninsured driver proximately causes, making clear for example that coverage triggered by property damage to "the contents thereof" (which would be an additional risk beyond the value of the insured vehicle) is not required by the UIM statue. *Id*. This reading of the language of RCW 48.22.030(3) as limiting the insurers mandatory UIM exposure to that flowing from the insured vehicle itself is supported by Schelinski v.

<sup>7</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See e.g. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hammonds*, 72 Wn.App. 664, 668, 865 P.2d 560 (1994)(finding that damages for "loss of consortium" under UIM statute must be the result of physical injury *to a person covered under the policy*, not an uncovered individual; the insurer can determine "the conditions for coverage" to arise)

Medwest Mut. Ins., 71 Wn. App. 783, 786, 863 P.2d 564 (1993) which involved an exclusion from UIM coverage for non-owned vehicles and "a trailer of any type" and held coverage need not be provided when the insured was driving a non-insured vehicle. *Id*.

A driver who negligently damages an automobile, the contents inside the vehicle, and a trailer towed behind, owes damages for all three. Yet, the Legislature only mandates UIM coverage for "damages" triggered by "physical damage to the insured motor vehicle" itself under the language of RCW 48.22.030(3) unless the insurer elects to cover contents or trailers or for example a camper shell, and presumable the policyholder then pays a premium to cover the additional risk presented by their being more insured property. This is the correct reading of RCW 48.22.030(3), not that it acts as a *limit* on consequential damages as *Pacheco* at ¶17 (holding "Other property damages, including consequential damages, are not required to be covered by the UIM policy.") incorrectly found.

B. Loss of Use are "damages" that result from and are "because of property damage" and as such are covered by RCW 48.22.030(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Similarly, if the accident pushed the insured vehicle into the insured's garage, damages to that garage would not be "damages because of property damage", to the insured vehicle or in the term used in *Daly* and other cases "damages as a result of" the property damage which triggered coverage.

"Damages," in the context of property, are objectively verifiable (monetary or non-monetary but monetized) losses, including repair costs (or replacement costs in the case of a total loss), diminished value, and loss of use. RCW 4.56.250(1)(a); *Kane v. Nakamoto*, 113 Wash. 476, 481, 194 Pac. 381 (1920); WPI 30.10; WPI 30.12; *Holmes v. Raffo*, 60 Wn.2d 421, 374 P.2d 536 (1962); *Straka Trucking v. Estate of Peterson*, 98 Wn. App. 209, 989 P.2d 1181 (1999); WPI 30.16. As shown above, the language "because of" interpreted to mean as "as a result of" in prior UIM cases, plainly refers to a proximately causal relationship with the term "property damage." Subsections (2) and (3) together, read in a harmonious manner in the context of insurance, reflect the Legislature's intent to mandate insurers to pay "damages" policyholders suffer "because of" "physical damage to the insured motor vehicle" as a result of accidents with at-fault underinsured motorists.

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