# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2019 12:35 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97703-8 (King County No. 17—12030-8 SEA)

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARLOS PACHECO,

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

#### OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondent

\_\_\_\_\_

#### DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT OREGON MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

R. Lind Stapley, WSBA # 19512 Jennifer P. Dinning, WSBA #38236 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent Oregon Mutual Insurance Company

SOHA & LANG, P.S.

1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2000

Seattle, WA 98101

Telephone: (206) 624-1800 Facsimile: (206) 624-3585

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

Mr. Pacheco's Complaint did not clearly assert any claims, but alleged that Oregon Mutual "despite having the opportunity and information necessary to pay the Plaintiff's claim for diminished value and loss of use, denied coverage for both damage elements." Mr. Pacheco's Complaint sought payment of the excluded damages, attorney fees under "Olympic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 352-353 at ¶¶ 4-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 231 at 1:18-19; CP 353 at ¶ 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 278-280.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 352-353.

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  CP 353 at ¶8.

Steamship<sup>8</sup> and RCW 4.56.250," and "interest calculated at the maximum amount allowable by law[.]"<sup>9</sup>

Mr. Pacheco subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a determination that exclusions for loss of use and diminished value were void as a matter of public policy. <sup>10</sup> In that motion, Mr. Pacheco admitted that the policy language in question is unambiguous and enforceable, and did not place the Policy or its language before the court. <sup>11</sup> Mr. Pacheco nevertheless sought a ruling on all such exclusions, regardless of their specific language. <sup>12</sup> The parties did not dispute that the motion presented a pure question of law and that summary judgment determination of the issue was appropriate. <sup>13</sup>

The King County District Court found that public policy supports voiding of the diminished value exclusion where the diminished value is caused by "unrepairable continuing physical damage." <sup>14</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Olympic Steamship Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d, 811 P.2d 673 (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 353.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See CP 231-244.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See CP 231:14-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Opening Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See CP 219-228.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 444:4-11 (VRP, Vol 1, 03/20/17, 21:4-11).

District Court, however, correctly ruled that there was no basis to void an exclusion for loss of use damages. 15

Both parties filed motions for reconsideration. 16 The District Court heard the parties' motions, but left its original decision in place. 17 Oregon Mutual filed a timely notice of appeal, and Mr. Pacheco filed a notice of cross-appeal. 18

On appeal, the King County Superior Court reversed the District Court's Order finding that exclusions for diminished value damages are void for public policy reasons, and upheld the District Court's Order finding that there was no basis to void exclusions for loss of use damages. 19 Mr. Pacheco filed a motion for discretionary review with the Court of Appeals, which was granted.

The Division I Court of Appeals reversed the decision of the King County Superior Court with regard to exclusions for diminished value, but upheld the King County Superior Court with regard to exclusions for loss of use.<sup>20</sup> Mr. Pacheco then filed his Petition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See CP 205-210 and CP 198-202.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 459:8 - CP 460:1 (VRP, Vol 2, 04/10/17, 13:8-14:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 7-13 and CP 17-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 504-505.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Opinion in Appendix to Plaintiff-Appellant's Petition for Review.

Review.

## IV. REASONS PLAINTIFF'S REQUEST FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### A. Standard of Review

Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Pacheco contends that review of the Division I Opinion with regard to loss of use is warranted based on the incorrect assertion that this decision conflicts with prior decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals and with statutory language, and that this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. As discussed below, Mr. Pacheco is mistaken and review is not required under any of the criteria established in RAP 13.4(b). Further, Oregon Mutual strenuously objects to Mr. Pacheco's representation that policy language

from a State Farm insurance policy excerpted from *Kalles v. State Farm*<sup>21</sup> is the same language contained in the Oregon Mutual policy at issue.<sup>22</sup> Mr. Pacheco's representation is simply wrong—the Oregon Mutual policy language differs from that presented in *Kalles* and the *Kalles* policy did not contain the exclusions at issue. Mr. Pacheco made an intentional decision not to place the Oregon Mutual policy language before the Court and present his claims as a pure issue of law.<sup>23</sup> Mr. Pacheco's present attempt to create new facts based on the facts of an unrelated case is procedurally improper and supports denial of review in this instance.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Re Loss of Use Is Not in Conflict with Washington Law

Contrary to Mr. Pacheco's representation to this court, the public policy behind the UIM statute (RCW 48.22, et seq.) is not to provide full compensation, but rather, to provide a floating layer of insurance coverage, as clearly stated by the Washington Supreme Court in *Greengo* v. Pub. Employees Mut. Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 799, 959 P.2d 657 (1998). Prior to 1975, the Washington Supreme Court had "declared the public policy underlying the predecessor uninsured motorist statute to be full

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Kalles v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 7 Wn. App. 2d 330, 433 P.3d 523 (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Petition for Review at p. 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See CP 231:14-16.

compensation."<sup>24</sup> The Washington Legislature reacted to that declaration by amending the UIM statute in 1980, which shifted public policy away from one of full compensation for an injured party to one that only provides a second layer of floating<sup>25</sup> protection.<sup>26</sup>

The Division I Opinion accepted and followed this stated public policy and case law with respect to the "loss of use" exclusion. The decision thus does not conflict with any Supreme Court rules or decisions on this topic. There is also no conflict with any Washington Court of Appeals decisions on this topic. Review by this Court of the Division I Opinion on "loss of use" is thus not mandated on the basis of Supreme Court conflict.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Greengo v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 799, 808–09, 959 P.2d 657, 661 (1998), citing Cammel v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 86 Wn.2d 264, 543 P.2d 634 (1975), overruled by statute as stated in Millers Cas. Ins. Co. v. Briggs, 100 Wn.2d 1, 4, 665 P.2d 891 (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> UIM coverage is referred to as a "floating" layer of protection because it "floats" on top of recovery from other sources, such as the under insured motorist's policy limits. A "floating" layer of protection is contrasted against a "decreasing layer" of protection, which is reduced by recovery from other sources. *See Elovich v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 543, 548–50, 707 P.2d 1319, 1323 (1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See Greengo v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co. 135 Wn.2d 799, 808-09, 959 P.2d 657 (1998).

Washington Courts have also repeatedly stated that UIM coverage is intended to imitate liability coverage of the at-fault driver.<sup>27</sup> The Division I Opinion is in congruence with this position. Loss of use exclusions are legally incorporated into general automobile liability coverage provisions. That same rule applies to the inclusion of identical provisions into UIM coverage. Mr. Pacheco, however, seeks a ruling that conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions with the effect voiding loss of use provisions in UIM coverage, while at the same time upholding the use of these same provisions in liability coverage. The argument conflicts with stated case law, with the practical effect of shifting back to the old public policy standard of full compensation rejected by the Washington legislature.<sup>28</sup>

Similarly, Mr. Pacheco's assertion that the Division I Opinion on loss of use is in conflict with the UIM statute itself because Division I declined to adopt the "trigger theory" presented by Mr. Pacheco is incorrect. The UIM statute does not require coverage for all consequential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See Daley v. Allstate Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 777, 789, 958 P.2d 990, 996 (1998) ("...the purpose of the statute 'is to allow an injured party to recover those damages which would have been received had the responsible party maintained liability insurance."") citing Britton v. Safeco Ins. Co., 104 Wn.2d 518, 522, 707 P.2d 125 (1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See Greengo v. Pub. Emps. Mut. Ins. Co. 135 Wn.2d 799, 808-09, 959 P.2d 657 (1998).

damages as asserted by Mr. Pacheco, neither by its express language nor by the public policy that underlies it.

The other decisions cited by Mr. Pacheco simply have no bearing on the issues examined by Division I in this matter, and the Division I Opinion on loss of use does not present any conflict with the same. For example, the Court in *Daley v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, did not address coverage under the UIM statute, but rather whether purely emotional injuries fell within the scope of the definition of "bodily injury" contained in the Allstate insurance policy at issue.<sup>29</sup> Further, The *Daley* Court expressly stated that a UIM carrier "is not required to pay all damages incurred by the plaintiff as the result of an act of a tort-feasor..." <sup>30</sup> The fact that damages are recoverable from a tortfeasor does not mean that they must fall within the scope of mandatory UIM coverage.

This matter is also one of statutory interpretation, not contract interpretation. Indeed, Pacheco admitted that the Oregon Mutual policy language was unambiguous and applicable to his loss.<sup>31</sup> As such, Pacheco's citations to third party property damage pollution liability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 499:7-16; See also Daley v. Allstate Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 777, 785, 958 P.2d 990 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Daley v. Allstate Ins. Co., 135 Wn.2d 777, 785, 958 P.2d 990 (1998)..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 231:14-16.

decisions in Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., <sup>32</sup>American National Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc., <sup>33</sup> and Transcontinental Ins. Co. v. Wa. Public Utilities Districts' Utility Sys., <sup>34</sup> are wholly misplaced as these decisions did not interpret the UIM statute. The same could be said of Pacheco's citation to Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, <sup>35</sup> which dealt with a completely different set of policy provisions and did not implicate UIM coverage. Similarly, Kalles v. State Farm, <sup>36</sup> cited by Mr. Pacheco, only addressed the language of the UIM coverage grant in the policy at issue (which differs from the Oregon Mutual coverage), and did not discuss interpretation of the UIM statute.

The rules of statutory interpretation differ in meaningful ways from the rules of statutory interpretation. For example, under the rules of statutory interpretation,

If the statutory meaning is clear, we give effect to the plain language without regard to the rules of statutory

<sup>32</sup> Overton v. Consolidated Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 428-29, 38 P.3d 322 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> American National Fire Ins. Co., v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc., 134 Wn.2d 413, 428-9, 951 P.2d 250 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Transcontinental Ins. Co. v. Wa. Public Utilities Districts' Utility Sys., 111 Wn.2d 452, 469-470, 760 P. 2d 337 (1988).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 155 Wn. App. 133, 143, 229 P.3d 857 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Kalles v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co, 7 Wn. App. 3d 330 (Div. 2 2019).

construction. When interpreting statutes, our function is to give effect to the object and intent of the legislature. We assume that the legislature means what it says.<sup>37</sup>

In stark contrast, the rules of insurance policy interpretation hold that any ambiguity in the language contained in an insurance policy must be construed in favor of the insured.<sup>38</sup> Accordingly, the policy interpretation decisions cited by Pacheco do not have any bearing on this matter and do create a conflict with the Division I Opinion regarding loss of use.

Mr. Pacheco also misrepresents the content of some of the cases on which he relies. For example, *Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, <sup>39</sup> did not address the UIM statute in any way. Rather, the *Hayden* Court analyzed whether a loss of use exclusion contained in a comprehensive general liability policy barred coverage such that there was no duty to defend the insured in an underlying lawsuit. <sup>40</sup>

In summary, the decision of Division I regarding loss of use does not conflict with any decisions of the Washington Court of Appeals.

Accordingly, Pacheco's request for review should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> *Doan v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 143 Wn. App. 596, 601, 178 P.3d 1074 (2008) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Britton v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 104 Wn.2d 518, 528, 707 P.2d 125, 132 (1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 141 Wn.2d 55, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Id* at 65-66.

# C. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Requiring a Determination by This Court.

Mr. Pacheco's final contention is that this decision involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Here, there is no substantial public interest in Mr. Pacheco's request that this Court revisit the Division I Opinion correctly applying settled law regarding statutory interpretation and determining that loss of use may be excluded in UIM coverage. The Division I Opinion makes no change to the existing law, and simply applies the law correctly to the question of loss of use exclusions.

Mr. Pacheco, however, seeks to change the existing law, urging that this Court adopt a "trigger theory" that would mandate coverage for all consequential, intangible, economic losses and create "exclusion free" coverage, with the exception of exclusions specifically called out in the UIM statute.<sup>41</sup> Adoption of a "trigger theory", as urged by Mr. Pacheco, is in direct conflict with the actual public policy underlying the UIM statute and represents a return to the public policy of full compensation rejected by the Washington State legislature.

Further, exclusions for loss of use already apply to automobile liability coverage and a holding that such an exclusion cannot apply to

-12-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Petition for Review at p. 5-6.

UIM coverage would create a two tiered system of insurance coverage, with UIM coverage providing a greater insurance recovery than liability coverage under the same policy. This would create a perverse incentive, where motorists can obtain a greater insurance recovery from a collision with an uninsured motorist than from an insured one, and thus should prefer to be in a collision with another motorist who is uninsured.

Further, as Mr. Pacheco notes, Oregon Mutual paid the limits of the rental car coverage provided under the policy. Accordingly, Mr. Pacheco seeks to require that Oregon Mutual provide "loss of use" coverage that is duplicative of policy benefits that have already been paid.<sup>42</sup> Such a windfall goes against the well-established indemnity principle of insurance.<sup>43</sup>

Accordingly, for all the above-stated reasons Pacheco's request for review should be denied.

#### V. REASONS OREGON MUTUAL'S REQUEST FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

If this Court accepts Mr. Pacheco's request for review, Oregon Mutual respectfully requests that the Court grant its request for review, made pursuant to RAP 13.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> CP 278-280.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Dombrosky v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 84 Wn. App. 245, 259, 928 P.2d 1127, 1136 (1996), as amended (Feb. 7, 1997), citing Keenan v. Industrial Indem. Ins. Co., 108 Wn.2d 314, 318–19, 738 P.2d 270 (1987).

#### A. Standard of Review

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